1985

Ronald Lavar Denison v. Alvind D. Chapman : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This action is to recover for damages to property and for personal injuries sustained by appellant in a collision of his station wagon, traveling south in the west outside land of a four lane highway, with a semi-trailer oil truck, which was traveling north with another automobile, with the result that the semi-trailer crossed over the highway into the lanes of southbound traffic and directly in front of the station wagon.

The semi-trailer was owned by Continental Oil Company and was being driven by its employee, Alvin D.

Chapman. The third car was being driven by Dora Hartley.

The accident occurred the evening of February 22, 1955, on U. S. Highway 89-91, at about 20 North Street, in Provo, on the hill which forms the north bank of the Provo River approach. This is a four lane paved highway with gravel shoulders and guard rails on both sides. It is 68 feet wide between the guard rails.

Denison was driving south from Orem toward Provo. He slowed down to about 15 miles per hour as he approached the crest of the hill and did not increase his speed thereafter. Hartley entered the highway on a road coming from the east and was driving up the hill going north, in the outside lane, at about 15 miles per hour, as she testified. Chapman was also going north up the hill and at the time of the collision with the Hartley car he was about one foot west of the dividing line between the two north traffic lanes. He was traveling 35 miles per hour.

Chapman had been on the road all day, starting early in the morning at Woods Cross with a load to Panguitch and reaching the scene of the accident on his return journey. He saw the Hartley car come up to the stop sign and then proceed up the hill in the east lane. He was then driving in the east lane. As he drew toward the Hartley car he moved over into the inside lane so as to pass her. He was going 35 miles per hour. When he reached a point almost parallel with the Hartley car, the latter wavered and slipped and went into a spin into Chapman's lane and the semi-trailer collided with the Hartley automobile. The latter was thrown clockwise to the right and came to rest facing south near the east guard rail; Chapman lost control of his vehicle and it diagonaled across

the south bound lanes, collided with the west guard rail and stopped so as to block both lanes.

Denison coming down the hill in the west lane, as far over as he could get, saw the lights of the semi-trailer as it commenced to cross over, and, feeling that something was amiss and that danger threatened, switched off his ignition and attempted to bring his vehicle to a stop.

The highway on the hill was covered with a coat of ice, and was very slippery clear across the pavement and from the crest to the foot.

The trailer came across so suddenly and the road was so slippery that Denison was unable to bring his station wagon to a stop. He could not pass to the right because of the guard rail and a deep gulch; he could not pass to his left because the trailer blocked both lanes and he could not face oncoming traffic in the east lanes. So he sat tight and collided with the trailer.

The action is against Chapman, driver of the oil tanker, the Continental Oil Company, owner and employer, and Dora Hartley, driver of the third vehicle.

The theory of appellant's case is that both Chapman and Mrs. Hartley were negligent in the operation of their vehicles and that as a proximate result thereof the appellant sustained his damages and injuries.

At the close of our case in chief the court, on motions of respondents, took the case from the jury and dismissed our complaint, holding that we had failed to produce any evidence from which the jury might find that either Chapman or Mrs. Hartley was negligent in any manner; and that the whole series of events was the result of some accident; hence there was no liability.

Appellant feels that there was ample evidence to take the case to the jury on the issues of negligence and proximate cause; and therefore the court erred in granting the motions and dismissing the complaint. So we present to this court the evidence relating to those issues and invoke the ruling of this court as to its sufficiency.

The following is a summary of the testimony of the witnesses relating to such issues:

1. *Richard H. Levin* testified: (Tr. 7)

He is a Provo City police officer; was on duty the evening of this accident. Shortly before the accident he drove up the hill and turned around and was waiting for the traffic to clear so that he could return back south at the time Denison drove out from Orem, and came down the hill behind the Denison car but did not see the collision, but when he got to the top of the grade he could see there had been an accident. (Tr. 10) Other cars were there ahead of him. The oil truck was angled in and locked onto the guard rail with its front bumper. The station wagon had collided with the truck just forward of the traction wheels of the traction unit, between the first and second pair of wheels. (Tr. 11)

The highway was very icy. It was slick enough that a car coming to a stop on the hill and then trying to proceed ahead would have quite a little trouble getting traction. The sheet of ice extended from the top to the bottom of the hill. There was no snow on top of the ice. (Tr. 16)

The right hand wheels of the Denison vehicle were over the edge of the pavement and on the gravel shoulder. (Tr. 16) Witness talked with both Chapman and Mrs. Hartley. Chapman said he was going around 30 to 35

Her car was damaged on the front fender and front wheel, a dent in the back door, and a small dent on the rear fender.

6. *Alvin D. Chapman* testified:

He had driven that day from Woods Cross to Panguitch and back to Provo. He had taken no rest but coffee stops and about an hour and a half to unload. (Tr. 84)

As he approached the hill he saw Mrs. Hartley pull up to the stop sign and stop before entering the highway. He had come up the hill in the right hand lane; but when he saw her pull into the highway and turn north in that lane, he pulled over into the left lane. (Tr. 86)

The whole surface of the highway was covered with slick ice, (Tr. 87) from guard rail to guardrail. It was a very dangerous condition to drive on. Mrs. Hartley did not seem to be having any trouble when he pulled over.

He testified at the trial that he didn't increase his speed on the hill to pass Hartley. (Tr. 88)

But in his deposition he testified that when he first saw her he was going about 20 to 25 miles per hour. (Tr. 88) and that after he first saw her he increased his speed and was going about 35 miles when he overtook her and at the time of the collision with her car. (Tr. 89) He did see her car the instant before the impact. (Tr. 90) He did not see her in the spin. (Tr. 91) He imagined he was right close to the back end of her car when she had trouble. But he could not see the back end of her car. He did not recollect whether or not he saw the Hartley car go into the spin. (Tr. 92) He did not remember whether he tried to turn to his left to avoid the collision. (Tr. 93)

He admitted in his direct examination that he had testified as follows on his deposition:

“Guess we were about three-quarters of the way up the hill and I don’t know what happened to her car, but the first thing I knew she was coming back down the hill, either backwards or sideways and we collided.” (Tr. 97)

“and we collided and when her car hit the front of my truck, it just hit the bumper and the front wheel and evidently the front tire because I lost control of the truck and it skidded across the road sideways and I hit the guardrail and the truck slipped up the guardrail kinda so my truck was sitting on an angle and my trailer was following up the road. My trailer was out in the middle of the road and my truck was across the two lanes.” (Tr. 97)

He testified on cross examination by his own attorney that a speed of 35 miles per hour was safer for him than 15 miles because of the danger of a spin-out at the lower speed. (Tr. 105)

7. *Roland Lavar Denison* testified:

His car was in good condition; the brakes and steering apparatus were in good working order; he had winter tires on the rear wheels. (Tr. 114) The road was slick in spots before he came to the top of the hill going south; from the top of the hill on down it was slick all over. (Tr. 116) About a quarter of a mile before he came to the top of the hill he took his foot off the gas and the car slowed down. (Tr. 117) Just before he got to the guard rail he noticed another car was slipping, he could see it in another car’s lights, and he shifted into second at that point, which was about 12 feet north of the west guard rail. He tried to brake but the car kept going. (Tr. 118-119) The car which he observed was weaving in another

car's lights was in the east lane of traffic. The car was just slipping back and forth, not spinning. (Tr. 120) It was clear over on the east side of the highway. The road was clear of traffic ahead of him. (Tr. 121) When he went into second gear his car slowed down; he thought he was going 25 miles per hour or slower when he made the shift. (Tr. 122) The next thing he noticed the truck was coming across the road, so he turned off his ignition switch. There was nothing more to do. "We hit." He thought the truck was 50 to 60 feet ahead of him when he saw it coming across the road. He did not see the collision between the truck and the Hartley car, nor did he hear it. (Tr. 123) He did not try to turn around the truck to his left because he might collide with northbound cars. He was on the right side of the road as far as he could go. (Tr. 124)

He did not at any time travel at 35 miles per hour after he passed the turn-off road, which was about 782 feet north of the crest of the hill where you can see the rest of the highway. (Tr. 137-138) From the crest of the hill where you can see on down the road to the point of collision is 1,312 feet. (Tr. 139) The sum of those distances is 2,094 feet. At no time did he travel at 35 miles per hour in that distance. (Tr. 139)

8. *Douglas Denison* testified:

He is 11 years old; was riding in the station wagon with his father. Before they came to the road that turns off the car was going 35 miles per hour by the speedometer. (Tr. 148) His father shifted gears before they got to the guard rail. (Tr. 148-149) After he shifted his father cut off the motor. (Tr. 150) About 200 feet before the collision he noticed the speedometer; it was not over 15 miles per hour. (Tr. 151-155)

II.

A R G U M E N T

Point 1.

THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO TAKE THE CASE TO THE JURY ON THE ISSUES OF NEGLIGENCE AND PROXIMATE CAUSE; HENCE THE COURT ERRED IN GRANTING RESPONDENTS' MOTIONS AND IN DISMISSING THE COMPLAINT.

Plaintiff was driving carefully, well within the estimated safe limit for the place. He slowed down at the turn-off, which is about a quarter of a mile back of the crest of the hill where one can see the highway clear down to the foot. When he came to where he could see down the slope he shifted into second gear, and used his brakes as much as they could be used on the ice. His brakes were in good condition and he had winter tires on the rear wheels. He was driving on the extreme west lane, with his right hand wheels on the gravel shoulder feeling for traction. When he saw the Hartley car, over in the east lane, weaving in the light of the truck, he felt there might be trouble, so he turned off his ignition and continued his efforts to slow down by the use of his brakes. He had the right-of-way in his lane. No one had any right to cut in ahead of him from the east at that place and block him off from proceeding down the hill. He had a right to assume that no one would do so. He was alert to what was going on, or so the jury might well have inferred, and paying careful attention to the situation, the road ahead and the traffic. The truck cut in ahead of him, collided with the guard rail and stopped, blocking both lanes of south bound traffic. It came across when plaintiff was within about 50 feet of the point of impact. There

was not anything that plaintiff could do to avoid the collision. He was not negligent.

It is otherwise with respect to respondents. A collision occurred on the two lanes of north bound traffic between the truck and Hartley's car. The north bound lanes were of ample width to accommodate both vehicles, with room to spare. Mrs. Hartley for at least part of the distance after she entered the highway traveled well over on the east side. Chapman started up the hill in the east lane but moved over into the other lane to pass her. He was traveling 35 miles per hour. She said she thought she might have been going 15 or 20. The police officers testified that in their judgment 15 or 20 was the maximum safe speed at that place. The hill was covered with a slick coat of ice, from guard rail to guard rail and from the top to the bottom. Both drivers knew of this condition. It was apparent to them as soon as they started up.

It was not as if one or the other had suddenly come upon a slick spot in an otherwise safe surface, or a pot hole in a pavement which could not be seen until a driver was too close to slow down or turn to avoid being thrown off course, or spot of gravel in an otherwise firm surface.

It was a dangerous highway at that place and both drivers were well aware of the dangers.

There was no traffic immediately ahead of them, to their rear, or on either side to distract their attention.

Their vehicles collided within a foot of the dividing line between the north traffic lanes, as Chapman was in the act of passing the Hartley car. The jury might well have believed that there was plenty of room in his own lane for Chapman to turn to his left to avoid a collision; and that he should have done so, and that he was negligent for not doing so.

It was Chapman's duty in overtaking and passing Hartley to pass to her left at a safe distance. Sec. 41-6-55, UCA, 1953.

It was also his duty to drive at a speed no greater than was reasonable and prudent under the conditions and having regard to the actual and potential hazards then existing, and to control his speed as was necessary to avoid colliding with the other vehicle. Sec. 41-6-46, UCA, 1953.

The jury had a right to find that Chapman did not overtake and attempt to pass Hartley at a safe distance; and to conclude therefrom that he was negligent in this respect, which negligence was the cause of the collision with the Hartley car and also with plaintiff's station wagon.

The jury had the right to find and conclude that the speed of 35 miles per hour was greater than was reasonable and prudent under the conditions and having regard to the actual and potential hazards then existing, and that he failed to control his speed to the extent necessary to avoid colliding with the Hartley car. If they so found, then this was negligence as a matter of law, being in violation of the statute. The jury had the right, furthermore, to find and conclude that this negligence was a proximate cause of the collision between the truck and the station wagon.

At the trial Chapman testified that he did not observe the Hartley car immediately before the collision, his attention being centered on the business of keeping the truck going and on the road ahead. But he also admitted that he had testified in his deposition that he saw the Hartley car sliding down the hill toward him immediately before the collision and that he did nothing to avoid a collision. From this and the other evidence the jury might well have concluded and found that Chapman was negli-

gent for not paying attention to the Hartley car, which was having trouble making the grade, and in failing to turn to his left or to slow his speed to avoid the accident; or the jury might have found that he in fact did see the Hartley car going into the slide toward his lane and that he was negligent in not taking any measures to avoid the accident. If he saw the Hartley car, over on the east side of the east lane, waving about and sliding toward his lane and even sliding back toward him, the jury had the right to find that he was negligent in not turning to his left in an attempt to avoid a collision.

It taxes credulity to believe that the accident could have happened if both Chapman and Hartley had been driving with due care commensurate with the hazards which they both knew existed.

It is a fact that both these drivers failed to keep control of their vehicles. The jury had the right to find that they were negligent for such failure. The jury had the right to find that Mrs. Hartley was negligent for even trying to negotiate the hill at the time, for it is apparent from her own testimony that she experienced great difficulty in keeping her car under control almost from the moment she entered the highway. The jury had a right to find that due care on her part in the dangerous situation in which she found herself required that she pull over to the side of the road and stop, instead of fighting the wheel and trying to make the grade.

It is manifest from the evidence that Hartley and Chapman by the operation of their vehicles set in motion a chain of events which led directly to the collision between the station wagon and the truck and to the resulting damages to the plaintiff. If Hartley had been driving with due care, if Chapman had not been traveling so fast or if

he had been paying attention and had even tried to avoid a collision, when he saw, if he did see, the Hartley car sliding down the hill toward him, then this accident would not have happened.

It is in evidence that other drivers had successfully negotiated that hill immediately before and immediately after this accident. There is no evidence that any other drivers were involved in accidents there. So it was not impossible to drive up or down the hill. If others could drive successfully over that dangerous highway, it is not unreasonable to conclude that Chapman and Hartley could have done so by the exercise of due care.

It is our contention that there was ample evidence to take the case to the jury upon the two issues, namely, (1) the negligence of Chapman and Hartley; and (2) that such negligence was the proximate cause of the collision between the truck and the station wagon and of the resulting damage to plaintiff. Hence that the court was in error in sustaining the defendants' motions and in dismissing the complaint. The court held as a matter of law that the evidence showed that there was no negligence and that the collisions were wholly accidental and that there was no liability.

The evidence shows how Chapman was operating and the speed of the truck; how Hartley was struggling to get her vehicle up the hill; the highly dangerous condition of the road, of which both of them were aware and saw before they commenced the ascent. It was for the jury to say whether either or both exercised due care in the circumstances; and if not, whether the negligence found was a proximate cause of the damages to plaintiff. These are conclusions of fact to be found by the jury, not conclusions of law to be decided by the court. In deciding

them as matters of law, the court usurped the functions of the jury and denied plaintiff of his right to the judgment of eight citizens on the issues.

There are hundreds of cases in the books in which the subject of skidding motor vehicles is involved. Questions of negligence and proximate cause have been raised in almost every conceivable manner. They all differ on the facts. We find none that can be said to be of controlling weight in this case. We point the way to some of them by citing:

Barret, et al. v. Caddo Transfer & Warehouse Company, Inc., 165 La. 1075, 116 So. 563, 58 A. L. R. 261; and the annotation commencing at page 264 of the latter volume.

Megan v. Stevens, et al., 91 F. (2d) 419; 113 A. L. R. 992; and the annotation in the latter volume commencing at page 1002.

It is urged that the case should have been submitted, to the jury under the doctrine of Res Ipsa Loquitur even though the Court had determined the matters foregoing against the plaintiff Denison. The facts surrounding this case clearly present a situation bringing into application the doctrine of Res Ipsa Loquitur. The icy condition upon the hill was not a sudden one presented only upon the hill but was generally prevalent. The defendant Chapman was acrossed the path of the plaintiff in the south-bound traffic lanes which could only have been the result of someones negligence. The oil tanker was under the exclusive control of the defendant Chapman and there was no negligent act on the part of Denison which created the situation.

Barrera v. De La Torre 300 P² 100, California.

It is respectfully submitted that the court erred in taking the case from the jury and dismissing the complaint; and therefore the judgment should be reversed and appellant granted a new trial.

Respectfully submitted.

Dilworth Woolley
Manti, Utah

Warren M. O'Gara
Salt Lake City, Utah

Attorneys for Appellant

11/11/19

1 = 1.2

existing conditions -

Hartley 15-20#

41-50#

to be 30 miles per hour

25#

= Dec on

The test is relevant as being a firing question -

The original is a

We needed for proof of unsafe speed

ASX 306 - speed as proximate

cause is a question of fact -

1 - there is

2 -