1985

# Ronald Lavar Denison v. Alvin D. Chapman, Continental Oil Company and Dora Hartley : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

**STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Respondent Dora Hartley agrees in full with the statement of facts set forth in the brief of Alvin D. Chapman and Continental Oil Company, and adopts the whole thereof as her statement of facts. We believe that the brief of respondent Alvin D. Chapman and Continental Oil Company fairly and accurately sets forth the facts as shown by the record on this appeal. We cannot agree with the statement

of facts set forth in appellant's brief for the same reasons discussed in the brief of respondent Alvin D. Chapman and Continental Oil Company.

**STATEMENT OF POINTS TO BE RELIED UPON**

POINT I

THERE IS NO EVIDENCE FROM WHICH THE JURY COULD FIND DEFENDANT DORA HARTLEY NEGLIGENT.

POINT II

THE DOCTRINE OF RES IPSA LOQUITUR HAS NO APPLICATION TO THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.

POINT III

IF DEFENDANT WERE GUILTY OF ANY NEGLIGENCE, PLAINTIFF WAS EQUALLY GUILTY OF CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE.

**ARGUMENT**

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Plaintiff's argument for recovery against Dora Hartley seems to be founded on the theory that the jury could have found negligence on her part from the mere fact that:

(1) The automobile driven by defendant Dora Hartley collided with the truck driven by defendant Alvin Chapman, or that,

(2) She was negligent for even trying to negotiate the hill or that,

(3) Other drivers had successfully negotiated the hill without having an accident.

On page 13 of appellant's brief, he states:

"It taxes credulity to believe that the accident could have happened if both Mr Chapman and Mrs. Hartley had been driving with due care commensurate with the hazards they knew existed."

Such argument is fallacious and without merit. It is a matter of common knowledge that accidents occur without the fault of either of the drivers. The mere fact that an automobile accident occurs does not warrant a recovery unless it can be shown that the injury or damage was caused by the negligence of the operator. It is essential to the existence of negligence that there be some fault on the part of the operator; no liability exists for an unavoidable accident. (5A Am. Jur. 346, 347, 439, Automobiles and Highway Traffic, Secs. 193 and 341).

An unavoidable accident is such an occurrence as under circumstances could not be foreseen or anticipated in exercise of ordinary care as the proximate cause of the injury by any of the parties. (Uncapher vs. Baltimore and O. R. Company, 127 Ohio St. 351, 188 N. E. 553). An accident which is caused by an absence of exceptional foresight, skill or care which the law does not expect of the ordinary prudent man is also characterized as inevitable or unavoidable. No redress is afforded for an injury caused by such an accident, and the loss must be borne by the one upon whom it falls. (Parker vs. Womack, 37 Cal. 2d 116, 230 P. 2d 823, and authorities cited on page 825).

In the case of Jolley vs. Clemen (82 Cal. App. 2d 55, 82 Pac. 2d 51) the Supreme Court of California pointed out on page 61:

“ . . . if the accident was inevitable or unavoidable that is the same thing as to say that defendant was not negligent, or that his negligence, if any, did not cause the accident. In other words, it is to say that plaintiff has failed in his proof.”

It is elementary that plaintiff has the burden of proof to show that defendants were negligent and that the negligence of the defendants was the proximate cause of the injuries complained of. We are mindful that in a case where a verdict has been directed in favor of the respondents the evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the appellant. We have carefully searched the record and can find no evidence from which the jury could find defendant Dora Hartley negligent. Plaintiff argues that they could have found that she was negligent for attempting to negotiate the hill. With this proposition we most earnestly disagree. Nor can we agree with the proposition that since others negotiated the hill without accident the jury could well find that defendants were negligent because they had an accident. If either proposition were true plaintiff would likewise be guilty of negligence in attempting to negotiate the same hill and since he was involved in an accident.

#### POINT I

**THERE IS NO EVIDENCE FROM WHICH THE JURY COULD FIND DEFENDANT DORA HARTLEY NEGLIGENT.**

The only evidence touching upon the conduct of defendant Dora Hartley in operating her automobile was the testimony of Mrs. Hartley, Mr. Chapman and possibly that

of Mr. Denison. The testimony of Mrs. Hartley is undisputed and is corroborated by that of Mr. Chapman. She was driving up the hill entirely in the right hand lane at approximately 15 miles per hour and had her car completely under control from the time she entered the highway until it skidded in a counter-clockwise direction just as the oil truck began passing her. She didn't realize the highway was so slick until after she entered, and then she realized that it was extremely slick. Thereafter she drove very cautiously, since she had had previous experience in driving this hill under wintry conditions.

In appellant's brief he keeps suggesting that Mrs. Hartley "experienced great difficulty in keeping her car under control almost from the moment she entered the highway" and "she was struggling to get her vehicle up the hill." We have searched the record and can find no such evidence. In fact, the evidence shows otherwise. It is undisputed that the Hartley car did not weave or skid until the oil tanker came alongside of her automobile. The weaving of the Hartley automobile suggested by Mr. Denison could only be the counter-clockwise spin which resulted in the accident with the oil tanker and the clockwise spin which resulted from the collision.

The only possible theory remaining upon which the jury could find negligence upon the part of defendant Dora Hartley is from the mere fact that her automobile skidded. It is well settled that the mere fact that an automobile skids or slides on a slippery highway is not evidence, in and of itself, of negligence. This rule has been recognized by this Court and was applied in the case of *West vs. Standard Fuel Co.*, 81 Utah 300, 17 Pac. 2d 292. In the *West* case, this Court held that the fact that plaintiff's automobile skidded

on a slippery highway into a truck standing in the traveled portion of the highway did not follow as a matter of law that plaintiff did not have his automobile under control. On page 294 this Court said:

“There is no evidence that plaintiff did not have his car under control unless it may be said that the fact his automobile skidded into the truck is such evidence. Such fact may not be said to show as a matter of law that plaintiff did not have his car under control.”

If the automobile were carefully operated, and was caused to skid through no fault of the operator, but due to conditions of the highway beyond his control, then the operator is not guilty of negligence, and the accident is deemed unavoidable. (See 5A Am. Jur. 346, 347, 439 Automobile and Highway Traffic, Secs. 193 and 341).

The evidence conclusively shows that the highway was extremely slippery. The evidence further shows without dispute that the automobile driven by defendant Dora Hartley skidded with no fault on her part. Since skidding in and of itself is not evidence of negligence, there is no evidence from which the jury could find Mrs. Hartley negligent. The trial court properly granted the motion of defendant Dora Hartley for an involuntary dismissal. Not only was such action proper, but the evidence demanded it, to prevent the jury from speculating on a verdict. The same action was upheld by this Court in the case of *Lockheed vs. Jensen*, 42 Utah 199, 129 Pac. 347, where the evidence of negligence was held to be insufficient to go to the jury where a car was driven at a lawful rate of speed on a country road and skidded upon running into ruts of chuck holes partly filled with sand.

## POINT II

THE DOCTRINE OF RES IPSA LOQUITUR HAS NO APPLICATION TO THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.

Apparently appellant does not contend in his brief that the doctrine of Res Ipsa Loquitur applies to defendant Dora Hartley. If there be any question about its application, we submit that it does not apply. The authorities cited in the brief of Respondents Alvin D. Chapman and Continental Oil Co. demonstrates that the law is well settled that the mere fact that an automobile skids on a slippery pavement does not of itself constitute evidence of negligence on the driver's part so as to render the Res Ipsa Loquitur Doctrine applicable.

To avoid repetition we adopt and incorporate in full the argument set forth under this point in the brief of Respondents Alvin D. Chapman and Continental Oil Co.

## POINT III

IF DEFENDANT WERE GUILTY OF ANY NEGLIGENCE, PLAINTIFF WAS EQUALLY GUILTY OF CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE.

The argument set forth in the brief of Respondents Alvin D. Chapman and Continental Oil Company very ably demonstrates that if defendant Dora Hartley were negligent, plaintiff was equally negligent. It is difficult to understand how plaintiff can claim that the jury could find Dora Hartley negligent for attempting to negotiate the hill and not be required to find plaintiff equally as negligent for attempting to drive down the same hill, which according to the evidence was even more hazardous. Since we would have

nothing more to add, we adopt and incorporate the argument set forth under this point in the brief of Respondents Alvin D. Chapman and Continental Oil Company.

### CONCLUSION

Since there is no evidence from which the jury could find defendant Dora Hartley negligent, the trial court properly granted her motion for involuntary dismissal. If there were any conduct on the part of the defendants from which the jury could have found negligence, the jury would have been required to find contributory negligence on the part of plaintiff, since his conduct was of the same kind. The accident was clearly unavoidable, without negligence of any party, as determined by the trial court. Since the doctrine of *res Ipsa loquitur* has no application to the facts of this case, we know of no other theory upon which the case could have been submitted to the jury. We respectfully submit that the judgment of the trial court was correct, and should be affirmed.